WORKING PAPERS

Efficiency of Banks in Croatia: A DEA Approach

Igor Jemrić Boris Vujčić

W – 7 February 2002

Efficiency of Banks in Croatia: A DEA Approach

Igor Jemrić Boris Vujčić

Working Papers Croatian National Bank February 2002

The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Croatian National Bank.

Published by Croatian National Bank Public Relations and Publishing Department Trg hrvatskih velikana 3, 10002 Zagreb Phone: 385-1-4564-555 Phone: 385-1-4922-070, 385-1-4922-077 Fax: 385-1-4873-623

Web http://www.hnb.hr

Editor-in-chief Evan Kraft

Editorial board Ante Babić Igor Jemrić

Editor Romana Sinković

Technical editor Slavko Križnjak

Language editing Lancon

Associate Ines Merkl

Printed by Intermark d.o.o., Zagreb

Those using data from this publication are requested to cite the source.

Printed in 450 copies

ISSN 1331-8586

EFFICIENCY OF BANKS IN CROATIA: A DEA APPROACH*

by Igor Jemrić and Boris Vujčić

Abstract

An understanding of a bank's relative efficiency is important for analysts, practitioners and policymakers alike. In this paper, we analyze bank efficiency in Croatia between 1995 and 2000, using Data Envelopment Analysis. We find that foreign-owned banks are on average most efficient, that the new banks are more efficient than the old ones, and that smaller banks are globally efficient but large banks appear to be efficient when we allow for variable returns to scale. We also find that there has been strong equalization in terms of average efficiency in the Croatian banking market, both between and within the peer groups of banks.

JEL: G21, C4

Keywords: envelopment analysis; efficiency frontier; operating approach; intermediation approach; Croatia; banks

^{*} We would like to thank Paul Wachtel on his comments on an earlier draft of this paper.

Contents

$1\ Introduction\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\ .\$
2 Banking Industry Development
3 Data Envelopment Analysis
3.1 CCR-model
3.2 BCC-model
4 Relative Efficiency of the Croatian Commercial Banks
4.1 Specification of the Data
4.2 Relative Efficiency – Operating Approach
4.2.1 Summary Results
4.2.2 Structural Insight
4.3 Relative Efficiency – Intermediation Approach
4.3.1 Summary Results
4.3.2 Structural Insight
5 Conclusions
References

EFFICIENCY OF BANKS IN CROATIA: A DEA APPROACH

1 Introduction

Bank efficiency has been an important issue in transition. All transition countries have been faced with at least one banking crisis, and many with more. In most of the transition countries, the relative comparison of banks by size, type of ownership or date of appearance has at some point been an issue. How good it is to let new banks enter the market? Should the domestic banking sector be sold to foreigners? Do small banks have a future in the era of globalization and banking market consolidation? These, and other questions, continue to dominate discussions in many transition countries. Therefore, an understanding of a bank's relative performance compared to the market, or over a period of time, is important for analysts, practitioners and policymakers alike.

In this paper we analyze bank efficiency in Croatia using Data Envelopment Analysis (DEA). Data Envelopment Analysis is a methodology for analyzing the relative efficiency and managerial performance of productive (or response) units, having the same multiple inputs and multiple outputs. It allows us to compare the relative efficiency of banks by determining the efficient banks which span the frontier. The most important advantage of DEA over traditional econometric frontier studies is that it is a non-parametric, deterministic method and therefore does not require a priori assumptions about the analytical form of the production function. Therefore, the probability of a misspecification of the production technology is zero. The disadvantage is that, being a non-parametric method, it is more sensitive to possible mismeasurement problems.

We measured the relative efficiency of banks in the Croatian market according to size, ownership structure, date of establishment and quality of assets in the period from 1995 until 2000. We found that foreign-owned banks are the most efficient on average, that the new banks are more efficient than the old ones, and that smaller banks are globally efficient but large banks appear to be locally efficient. We also found that there has been strong equalization in terms of average efficiency in the Croatian banking market, both between and within the peer groups of banks. Regarding particular inputs, the most significant cause of inefficiency among state-owned and old banks vs. foreign-owned and new ones is the number of employees and fixed assets. In terms of size, the most efficient in various specifications are either the smallest or largest banks, and the technically more efficient banks are those that have, on average, less non-performing loans, but this conclusion becomes more obvious only with the gradual consolidation in the banking sector.

2 Banking Industry Development

After gaining independence in 1990, Croatia already had a two-tier banking system from ex-Yugoslavia. However, it had to rebuild its banking system, establishing new standards of market-based banking practice. During the process, many new commercial banks were established. In Croatia, banks represent by far the most important segment of financial intermediation. Their share in the estimated total balance sheet of financial institutions is almost 90 percent. The number of banks in Croatia was on the rise until 1997 (Figure 1). Barriers to entry were low, as the minimum equity capital to found a bank was about HRK 55 million for a full international license (this was raised with the introduction of the new Banking Law at the end of 1998), which helped the entry of a substantial number of new small banks.

However, the main reason for the successful growth of smaller banks was the high interest rate spread, which allowed many small new banking institutions without the burden of old debts to do business with a large profit. It was only after the rehabilitation process of large state-owned banks had started that the spread came down from 20 percentage points to below 10 percentage points (Figure 2).















6.7

🗆 Foreign 🔳 Domestic

There were 26 banks in Croatia in 1990, but, by the end of 1997, the Croatian banking sector comprised 61 universal banks,¹ of which nine were foreign-owned. Foreign banks started entry relatively late, only after the Dayton peace agreement in 1995, which put an end to the hostilities in Croatia and Bosnia-Herzegovina. The entry of foreign banks, coupled with the exit from the market of some badly managed/undercapitalized banks (since 1998), gradually increased competition in the domestic market. As the high interest rate spreads started to come down, a number of banks experienced difficulties in adjusting to the new conditions and increased competition. During 1998-2000, 13 small and medium-sized banks failed: eleven exited from the market and two were rehabilitated. After these failures, and some mergers and acquisitions, the number of banks fell rapidly. This rapid process of consolidation will continue. Two small banks failed in 2001 and a number of M&As are currently under way.

Since 1995, the ownership structure of the banking industry has substantially changed (Figure 3).

The previously predominant state ownership, when measured by assets, was down to only 6.1 percent at the end of 2000, when only three banks remained majority state-owned. In 1999, however, before the sale of three large rehabilitated banks to foreign strategic owners, the share of state-owned banks was still high – 40.6 percent. An equally dramatic change occurred in the domestic/foreign structure of ownership.

¹ There were also 33 saving banks, whose combined assets were less than 1 percent of the total assets of the banking system.



Figure 5 Share of the largest banks in total assets

By 2000, although only 20 banks out of 44 were foreign-owned, 84 percent of the banking system's assets were in the hands of foreign-owned banks (Figure 4), up from only 7 percent in 1998. This rapid change was a consequence of the sale of the largest state-owned banks to foreign owners.

The concentration in the banking sector is high, as is the case in other transition countries of Central and Eastern Europe. The market structure is oligopoly-like. Almost half of total banking deposits, and 47 percent of total assets, belong to the two largest banks. The five largest banks control 65 percent of total assets.

A number of new private banks, unburdened by dubious operations from socialist times, were established in the nineties. However, these banks were financially quite insignificant and did not influence much the main aggregate indicators, including the concentration ratio. Although the loan and deposits growth was faster among these banks, the concentration changed only slowly. The share of the two largest banks fell primarily due to the downsizing of one of them in the rehabilitation process. Since 1998, however, their market share has been on the rise again, in part due to the exit from the market of a number of small and medium-sized banks.

The only efficiency analysis of the Croatian banking system so far is Kraft, Tirtiroglu (1998), which uses the stochastic-cost frontier analysis on the data for 1994 and 1995 and estimates both operating and scale efficiency for old vs. new and state vs. private banks. The results show that the old state-owned banks were more (both operating and scale) efficient than the new ones, although the new banks were highly profitable. The authors ascribe that "abnormality" to free-riding opportunities created by distressed borrowers, limited competition, and start-up difficulties at the new banks.

3 Data Envelopment Analysis

DEA is a methodology for analyzing the relative efficiency and managerial performance of productive (or response) units, having the same multiple inputs and multiple outputs. It allows us to compare the relative efficiency of banks by determining the efficient banks as benchmarks and by measuring the inefficiencies in input combinations (slack variables) in other banks relative to the benchmark. Since the mid-eighties, DEA has become increasingly popular in measuring efficiency in different national banking industries, for example in Sherman and Gold (1985), Rangan et al. (1988), Ferrier and Lovell (1990), Aly et al. (1990), Elyasiani and Medhian (1990), Berg et al. (1993), Brockett et al. (1997), and in many other papers. Leibenstein and Maital (1992) argue that DEA is the superior method for measuring overall technical inefficiency.

Data Envelopment Analysis is a non-parametric, deterministic methodology for determining the relatively efficient production frontier, based on the empirical data on chosen inputs and outputs of a number of entities called Decision Making Units (DMUs). From the set of available data, DEA identifies reference points (relatively efficient DMUs) that define the efficient frontier (as the best practice production technology) and evaluate the inefficiency of other, interior points (relatively inefficient DMUs) that are below that frontier.

Data Envelopment Analysis provides an alternative approach to regression analysis. While regression analysis relies on central tendencies, DEA is based on extremal observations. While the regression approach assumes that a single estimated regression equation applies to each observation vector, DEA analyzes each vector (DMU) separately, producing individual efficiency measures relative to the entire set under evaluation.

The main advantage of DEA is that, unlike regression analysis, it does not require an a priori assumption about the analytical form of the production function. Instead, it constructs the best practice production function solely on the basis of observed data, and therefore the possibility of misspecification of the production technology is zero. On the other hand, the main disadvantage of DEA is that the frontier is sensitive to extreme observations and measurement errors (the basic assumption is that random errors do not exist and that all deviations from the frontier indicate inefficiency).

Among the number of DEA models, we used the two most frequently used: the CCR-model (after Charnes, Cooper, Rhodes, 1978) and the BCC-model (after Banker, Charnes and Cooper, 1984). The main difference between these two models is the treatment of returns to scale: while the latter allows for variable returns to scale, the former assumes that each DMU operates with constant returns to scale.

3.1 CCR-model

Charnes, Cooper and Rhodes introduced a measure of efficiency for each DMU that is obtained as a maximum of a ratio of weighted outputs to weighted inputs. The weights for the ratio are determined by the restriction that the similar ratios for every DMU have to be less than or equal to unity, thus reducing multiple inputs and outputs to a single "virtual" input and single "virtual" output without requiring preassigned weights. The efficiency measure is then a function of the weights of the "virtual" input-output combination. Formally, the efficiency measure for DMU₀ can be calculated by solving the following mathematical programming problem:

$$\max_{u,v} h_0(u,v) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{s} u_i y_{i0}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i x_{i0}}$$
(3.1)

subject to

$$\sum_{r=1}^{s} u_r y_{rj} \le 1, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, j_0, \dots, n$$
(3.2)

$$u_r \ge 0, \quad r = 1, 2, \dots, s$$
 (3.3)

$$v_i \ge 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
 (3.4)

where x_{ij} = the observed amount of input of the i_{th} type of the j_{th} DMU ($x_{ij} > 0$, i = 1,2,...,n, j = 1,2,...,n) and y_{rj} = the observed amount of output of the r_{th} type for the j_{th} DMU ($y_{rj} > 0$, r = 1,2,...,s, j = 1,2,...,n).

The variables u_r and v_i are the weights to be determined by the above programming problem.² However, this problem has an infinite number of solutions since if (u^*, v^*) is optimal then α ($\alpha u^*, \alpha v^*$) is also optimal for each positive scalar. Following the Charnes-Cooper transformation (1962), one can select a representative solution (u, v) for which

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i x_{i0} = 1 \tag{3.5}$$

to obtain a linear programming problem that is equivalent to the linear fractional programming problem (3.1) - (3.4). Thus, the denominator in the above efficiency measure h_0 is set to equal one and the transformed linear problem for DMU₀ can be written:

$$\max_{u} z_{0} = \sum_{r=1}^{s} u_{r} y_{r0}$$
(3.6)

subject to

$$\sum_{r=1}^{s} u_r y_{rj} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i x_{ij} \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
(3.7)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i x_{i0} = 1 \tag{3.8}$$

$$u_r \ge 0, \quad r = 1, 2, \dots, s$$
 (3.9)

$$v_i \ge 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
 (3.10)

2 In the original model, these variables are restricted to being strictly positive. However, their strict positive sign can be guaranteed by using the infinitesimal to generate the Non-Archimedean ordered extension field, in which its usage guarantees that optimal solutions of the transformed linear program are at finite non-zero extremal points. For the above linear programming problem,³ the dual can be written (for the given DMU_0) as:

$$\min_{n} z_0 = \Theta_0 \tag{3.11}$$

subject to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{j} y_{rj} \ge y_{r0}, \quad r = 1, 2, \dots, s$$
(3.12)

$$\Theta_0 x_{i0} - \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j x_{ij} \ge 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m$$
 (3.13)

$$\lambda_{j} \ge 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
 (3.14)

Both above linear problems yield the optimal solution Θ^* , which is the efficiency score (so-called technical efficiency or CCR-efficiency) for the particular DMU₀, and efficiency scores for all of them are obtained by repeating them for each DMU*j*, j=1,2,...,n. The value of Θ is always less than or equal to unity (since when tested, each particular DMU₀ is constrained by its own virtual input-output combination). DMUs for which $\Theta^* < 1$ are relatively inefficient and those for which $\Theta^* = 1$ are relatively efficient, having their virtual input-output combination points on the frontier. The frontier itself consists of linear facets spanned by efficient units of the data, and the resulting frontier production function (obtained with the implicit constant returns-to-scale assumption) has no unknown parameters.

3.2 BCC-model

The absence of constraints for the weights λ_j , other than the positivity conditions in the problem (3.11) – (3.14), implies constant returns to scale. For allowing variable returns to scale, it is necessary to add the convexity condition for the weights λ_j , i.e. to include in the model (3.11) – (3.14) the constraint:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j = 1 \tag{3.15}$$

The resulting DEA model that exhibits variable returns to scale is called the BCC-model, after Banker, Charnes and Cooper (1984). The input-oriented BCC-model for the DMU₀ can be written formally as:

$$\min_{n} z_0 = \Theta_0 \tag{3.16}$$

³ The problem (3.6) - (3.10) is so-called "input-oriented CCR-model", in which the maximization is oriented toward the choice of "virtual multipliers" (i.e. weights) u and v which produces the greatest rate of "virtual output" per unit of "virtual input". The analogous "output-oriented CCR-model" can be obtained by output (instead of input) normalization used in the Charnes-Cooper linearization.

subject to

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{j} y_{rj} \ge y_{r0}, \quad r = 1, 2, \dots, s$$
(3.17)

$$\Theta_0 x_{i0} - \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j x_{ij} \ge 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m$$
 (3.18)

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j = 1. \tag{3.19}$$

$$\lambda_j \ge 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n \tag{3.20}$$

The BCC-efficiency scores are obtained by running the above model for each DMU (with similar interpretation of its values as in the CCR-model). These scores are also called "pure technical efficiency scores", since they are obtained from the model that allows variable returns to scale and hence eliminates the "scale part" of the efficiency from the analysis. Generally, the CCR-efficiency score for each DMU will not exceed the BCC-efficiency score, which is intuitively clear since the BCC-model analyzes each DMU "locally" (i.e. compared to the subset of DMUs that operate in the same region of returns to scale) rather than "globally".

4 Relative Efficiency of the Croatian Commercial Banks

Using both the CCR and BCC models, the relative efficiency of the Croatian commercial banks was measured for the period 1995-2000 (separately for each year). Both DEA models were used under two different approaches in estimating the relative efficiency of the banks: 1) operating approach and 2) intermediation approach. These two approaches reflect two different ways of evaluating bank efficiency: one from the perspective of cost/revenues management, and the other, more mechanical, one which takes banks as entities which use labor and capital to transform deposits into loans and securities.

4.1 Specification of the Data

As a statistical basis for input and output data, the end-of-year balance sheets and financial statements of the Croatian commercial banks were used, as well as survey data on employee numbers. Different sets of input and output data were used for the two approaches in estimating efficiency. For the operating approach, all data were taken from banks' financial statements:

for each (j-th) Decision Making Unit (i.e. for each bank) the input data (x_{ij}) were:

- Input1 (x_{1j}) interest and related costs,
- Input2 (x_{2j}) commissions for services and related costs,

- Input3 (x_{3i}) labor-related administrative costs (gross wages)
- Input 4 (x_{4j}) – capital-related administrative costs (amortization, office maintenance, office supplies etc.),
 - while the output data (y_{ij}) were:
- Output1 (y_{1j}) interest and related revenues, and
- Output2 (y_{2j}) non-interest revenues (commissions for provisions of services and related revenues).

For the intermediation approach, three inputs were chosen for each (j-th) bank:

- Input1 (*x*_{1*i*}) fixed assets and software (balance sheet item),
- Input2 (x_{2i}) number of employees (survey data),
- Input3 (x_{3j}) total deposits received (balance sheet item), and two outputs (both being balance sheet items):
- Output1 (y_{1j}) total loans extended, and
- Output 2 (y_{2j}) – short-term securities issued by official sectors – CNB bills and MoF treasury bills.

We excluded from our sample banks that went bankrupt during the analyzed period. It was found that these banks had misreported data to the central bank. Given the fact that DEA is a non-stochastic method, it is particularly sensitive to the problems of mismeasurement. Therefore, the inclusion of these banks into the sample could have seriously undermined the quality of the results.

4.2 Relative Efficiency – Operating Approach

4.2.1 Summary Results

The summary results for the analysis via the operating approach (for both CCR and BCC models) are presented in Table 1. In the table, average efficiency (M) stands for the average of all optimal values Θ_0^* obtained by running separate programs (3.11) – (3.14) (for the CCR-model) or (3.16) – (3.20) (for the BCC-model) for each commercial bank.

Under the constant returns-to-scale assumption, the Croatian financial system in 1995 was characterized by large asymmetry between banks regarding their technical efficiency. Only four (out of 39) banks were efficient in that year, and the average efficiency of the banks was only 0.445. This means that the average bank, if producing its outputs on the efficiency frontier instead of at its current (virtual) location, would have needed only 44.5 percent of the inputs currently being used (or, in terms of average inefficiency, it would have needed 124.6 percent more inputs to produce the same outputs as an efficient bank). Such a figure can be, without doubt, treated as not relatively but absolutely low, since it is among the ten lowest average efficiencies out of 124 obtained from 36 DEA studies of bank efficiency conducted for 11 countries (see Berger and Humphrey, 1997). For comparison, the mean value of average efficiencies obtained from 78 separate measurements of US banks' efficiencies using non-parametric techniques (either Data Envelopment Analysis or Free Disposal Hull approach) was 0.72 (ibid.).

These two facts (the efficiency frontier being spanned by only four entities and relatively low average efficiency) indicate that being relatively efficient in the Croatian

Summary results (CCR-model)							
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	
Number of DMUs:	39	42	45	48	47	43	
No. of efficient DMUs:	4	6	12	10	11	8	
Average efficiency (M):	0.445	0.658	0.734	0.736	0.793	0.745	
Average inefficiency ((1-M)/M):	1.246	0.520	0.362	0.358	0.261	0.343	
Standard deviation (sigma)	0.261	0.218	0.195	0.182	0.174	0.180	
Interval I = [M-sigma; M+sigma]	(0.18;0.71)	(0.44;0.88)	(0.54;0.93)	(0.55;0.9)	(0.65;0.92)	(0.57;0.93)	
Percentage of DMUs in I	74.36%	54.76%	57.78%	60.42%	46.81%	53.49%	

Table 1: Summary results – operating approach

Summary results (BCC-model)							
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	
Number of DMUs:	39	42	45	48	47	43	
No. of efficient DMUs:	18	16	20	20	17	17	
Average efficiency (M):	0.777	0.791	0.844	0.849	0.868	0.852	
Average inefficiency ((1-M)/M):	0.287	0.264	0.184	0.178	0.153	0.173	
Standard deviation (sigma)	0.252	0.217	0.168	0.166	0.166	0.152	
Interval I = [M-sigma; M+sigma]	(0.53;1.03)	(0.57;1.08)	(0.68;1.01)	(0.68;1.02)	(0.70;1.03)	(0.70;1.00)	
Percentage of DMUs in I	82.05%	76.19%	80.00%	81.25%	74.47%	86.05%	

financial system in 1995 implied an unusual, extreme behavior. Indeed, the four efficient banks were relatively small, newly established private banks.

However, as Table 1 shows, the situation changed in subsequent years. The number of efficient banks rose rapidly, and there was a rapid catch-up towards "normal" levels of efficiency, resulting in a much higher average efficiency of 0.793, and 0.745 in 1999 and 2000 respectively. The only statistical indicator that moved in the opposite direction is the percentage of banks whose efficiency falls within the interval of one standard deviation around the mean. This is, however, mainly a simple mathematical consequence of the fact that efficient units never fall within that interval (and in later years there were more such units than in 1995) and that the interval itself narrowed to 68 percent of its initial size.

If we allow for variable returns to scale (BCC-model), we find much less of a change during the analyzed period. Allowing for variable returns to scale always results in a higher average efficiency because DMUs that were efficient under constant returns to scale are accompanied by new efficient DMUs that might operate under increasing or decreasing returns to scale. Allowing for variable returns to scale reveals the impact of only a few relatively small banks that were spanning the production possibilities frontier under the CCR-model.

However, under both assumptions (of either constant or variable returns to scale) one can conclude that in the six-year transition period the Croatian financial system moved towards the equalization of the banks regarding their technical efficiency. This convergence in the banking market was spurred by increasing competition and the exit of a number of bad banks from the market after 1998.

4.2.2 Structural Insight

Here we classify the Croatian commercial banks into peer groups and present the results separately for each group.

When interpreting the data, it is important to bear in mind that the composition of the peer groups changed over time. Banks moved from one group to the other, and the number of banks changed over the analyzed period. That, together with the na-

Pee	r	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
1	Over HRK 5bn	0.24	0.65	0.72	0.66	0.70	0.77
2	HRK 1 – 5bn	0.30	0.63	0.69	0.67	0.78	0.71
3	HRK 0.5 – 1bn	0.29	0.64	0.69	0.76	0.73	0.82
4	Less than HRK 0.5bn	0.54	0.67	0.77	0.79	0.83	0.73

Table 2: Average efficiency of the banks grouped by size (CCR-model)

Table 3: Average efficiency of the banks grouped by size (BCC-model)

Pee	·	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
1	Over HRK 5bn	0.92	1.00	0.95	1.00	0.99	0.98
2	HRK 1 – 5bn	0.89	0.82	0.86	0.83	0.84	0.85
3	HRK 0.5 – 1bn	0.69	0.70	0.83	0.84	0.75	0.91
4	Less than HRK 0.5bn	0.74	0.77	0.82	0.84	0.89	0.79

ture of the DEA method, makes comparisons of changes in relative efficiency over time sensitive to the changing structure of the banking market.

The results show that, until 1999, smaller banks were technically the most efficient. The average efficiency of peer groups 1 and 3 reached their maximum at the end of the period, with the largest banks being more efficient than the smallest ones for the first time. At the beginning of the period, the largest banks were overstaffed and burdened with non-performing assets inherited from the previous system. On the other hand, as previously noted, the main reason for the successful growth of smaller banks was a high interest rate spread (as shown in Figure 2), a situation in which many small new banking institutions without the burden of old debts could do business with exceptional profit. There were two main reasons for the high spreads: 1) lending was risky owing to inadequate financial discipline and the lack of an institutional framework to protect the creditors, and 2) there were substantial structural problems in banks regarding operating efficiency and staff efficiency. Once spreads started to come down, after three of the four large banks were rehabilitated and then sold to foreign owners, the situation changed. Thus, the "catch up" of large banks from the position in which they were in 1995 is related to the successful rehabilitation of four banks and their subsequent privatization.

In terms of pure technical efficiency, i.e. allowing for variable returns to scale, the situation looks quite different. Throughout the period, the most efficient banks are the largest ones. Interestingly, the inverse results that we obtained by using the two different models (constant and variable returns to scale) is a common finding for many studies of the banking industry. In the constant returns-to-scale model, smaller

banks dominate the frontier (see, for example, Berg et al. 1993), while in the variable returns-to-scale model, frontier banks are on average much larger. Although it appears that the variable returns-to-scale model is a more plausible model for an analysis of the banking industry, it has to be taken into account that peer group 1 consists of only the 3-5 largest banks, and they might appear efficient simply because there is no good reference bank (or group of banks) for them. Therefore, with a relatively small sample of large banks, the concept of local efficiency might be misleading.

Regarding the homogeneity of the peer groups, in general, the smaller the banks are, the less homogeneous they are in their efficiency. Table 4 provides further evidence of the equalization trend in the domestic banking market, as measured by coef-

	Peer	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
1	Over HRK 5bn	1.176	2.803	3.176	3.100	0.590	2.150
2	HRK 1 – 5bn	7.239	5.916	4.388	3.549	4.328	3.449
3	HRK 0.5 – 1bn	4.654	9.658	4.463	3.293	2.378	4.920
4	Less than HRK 0.5bn	13.753	7.746	8.629	4.723	3.780	4.864

Table 4: Coefficients of variations of the banks grouped by size (CCR)

ficients of variation of average efficiency from within the peer group mean. For peer groups 2-4, a strong process of equalization is evidently present, while within peer group 1, the coefficient of variation remained low throughout the period.

The hypothesis that private banks are more technically efficient than state-owned banks was also tested. Here, the basis for grouping was the dominant type of ownership: banks with more than 50 percent of their capital in government hands were classified as state-owned, with the same principle being applied to classify banks as private domestic or foreign-owned.

Under the constant returns-to-scale model, state banks are constantly the least efficient, which is consistent with the previous finding since three out of four of them are peer group 1 large banks. Foreign-owned banks, on the other hand, are clearly the most efficient under both models, except in 1996 when a small number of them that had just entered the market had high start-up costs and little revenues. However, under both the constant and variable returns-to-scale models, the state-owned banks started to catch up in terms of average efficiency after the rehabilitation process in



Figure 6 Operating efficency by ownership status (CCR-model)





four of them, and, under the variable returns-to-scale model, even became more efficient than the private domestic banks.

We also compared the new and the old banks. Banks established in or after 1990 were treated as new, while those established in or before 1989 were treated as old.

Clearly, the new banks were more efficient than the old ones over the whole period. Under the constant returns-to-scale model, again, most of the efficiency equalization took place until 1997. The new banks, however, kept a significantly higher average efficiency throughout the period. The same conclusion can be obtained under the variable returns-to-scale model, although the banks' efficiency is more equal (by the construction of the model) and the difference between the new and old banks' efficiency is less pronounced.

A particular problem for the old banks, as well as for the state-owned banks, were non-performing portfolios dating back to the previous system; however, the scale of this problem was reduced by the rehabilitation of four old state-owned banks. The rehabilitation process in the large state-owned regional banks, whose constant liquidity problems had created high low-risk demand in the money market, helped bring about a substantial decrease in interest rate spreads and thus a more competitive environment. The first rehabilitation process started in 1995 in a regional bank that had suffered the most from the war. In 1996, rehabilitation was initiated in two other regional banks; both of them received liquidity injections and had their bad assets carved out. Finally, at the beginning of 1997, rehabilitation was initiated in the country's second largest bank. However, the final restructuring of the rehabilitated banks





(business focus, staff reductions, and so on) is still under way after they were taken over by foreign owners.

4.3 Relative Efficiency – Intermediation Approach

An interesting finding appears from the above efficiency analysis of the Croatian banking system: it seems that the most efficient banks are either the smallest or the largest while, on average, the most slippery territory appears to belong to medium-sized banks. Another often used specification of the efficiency measurement in DEA models hints at this conclusion even more than the above results do. Here we present the results of what might be called the measurement of intermediation efficiency. The idea is to look more mechanically at what banks do. Under the "pure" intermediation approach, banks use labor, capital and deposits in order to produce loans and other investments. The actual production process is a black box whose efficiency is simply judged by the amount of output produced from a certain amount of input.

4.3.1 Summary Results

First we present the summary results of the analysis for both the CCR and BCC models in Table 4 (the meaning of average efficiency (M) is analogous to that in Table 1 for the operating approach).

As the previous approach, this one confirms the gradual equalization of efficiency in the Croatian banking market, although the trend is much less visible. For both models, the average efficiency is lower over the whole period than in the operating approach, and the number of efficient banks is half of that obtained in the operating ap-

Summary results (CCR-model)						
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
Number of DMUs:	39	42	45	48	47	43
No. of efficient DMUs:	2	2	5	7	8	5
Average efficiency (M):	0.429	0.336	0.450	0.517	0.629	0.505
Average inefficiency ((1-M)/M):	1.332	1.973	1.222	0.933	0.589	0.979
Standard deviation (sigma)	0.249	0.216	0.229	0.261	0.228	0.269
Interval I = [M-sigma; M+sigma]	(0.18;0.68)	(0.12;0.55)	(0.22;0.68)	(0.26;0.78)	(0.40;0.86)	(0.24;0.77)
Percentage of DMUs in I	79.49%	80.95%	77.78%	66.67%	65.96%	67.44%

Table 5: Summary results – intermediation approach

Summary results (BCC-model)						
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000
Number of DMUs:	39	42	45	48	47	43
No. of efficient DMUs:	10	11	12	12	16	15
Average efficiency (M):	0.614	0.602	0.656	0.686	0.748	0.659
Average inefficiency ((1-M)/M):	0.630	0.662	0.524	0.457	0.337	0.518
Standard deviation (sigma)	0.265	0.289	0.264	0.261	0.234	0.303
Interval I = [M-sigma; M+sigma]	(0.35;0.88)	(0.31;0.89)	(0.39;0.92)	(0.43;0.95)	(0.51;0.98)	(0.36;0.96)
Percentage of DMUs in I	53.85%	57.14%	53.33%	43.75%	48.94%	39.53%

proach in almost all years. Therefore, being efficient in the Croatian banking business was more unusual from the intermediation point of view.

4.3.2 Structural Insight

In both model specifications, the average efficiency among peer groups is U-shaped in many years, i.e. the largest, or smallest, banks were the most efficient in using their inputs to produce outputs, while the medium-sized banks were often less efficient.

However, the relative inefficiency of the medium-sized banks might be attributable more to many of them being regional banks than to their size, with their efficiency problems arising from the environment in which they operate. On the other hand, the smallest banks are often niche banks. Being a small bank, however, does not







Figure 10 Intermediation efficiency by size (BCC-model)

guarantee relative efficiency, as the coefficient of variation of efficiency scores in that group is relatively high.

The intermediation approach confirms the findings on the relative efficiency of new/old and state/private/foreign banks. Since both models support the same conclusions, in the rest of the paper we present figures only for the CCR-model.

Under the intermediation approach, the foreign-owned banks were even more efficient relative to the private domestic and state-owned banks than was the case when costs and revenues were taken as inputs and outputs. In other words, except in 1995 when there was only one foreign-owned bank, the foreign-owned banks were able to produce an equal amount of output (loans and securities) from much less input (fixed capital, labor and deposits) than the other banks. The intermediation approach thus



Figure 11 Intermediation efficiency by ownership status (CCR-model)

emphasizes the dominant position of the foreign-owned banks relative to the other banks in the market. Again, equalization is observable over time. Under the constant returns-to-scale model, the state-owned banks demonstrated a rapid improvement in average efficiency relative to the other banks after the rehabilitation process started in 1996. In 2000, after being privatized, the three largest state-owned banks joined the group of foreign-owned banks. This caused a modest decline in the average efficiency of that peer group and a much more pronounced decline in the average efficiency of the state-owned banks (of which only three remained in 2000).

In terms of bank age, the intermediation approach emphasizes the superior performance of the new banks relative to the old ones. Again, it demonstrates the catch-up of the old banks to the new ones before the privatization of three state-owned banks, with the same kind of post-privatization effect on the two peer groups as in the case of state-owned vs. foreign-owned banks.

Regarding particular inputs, the DEA analysis suggests that the most significant cause of inefficiency among state-owned and old banks vs. foreign-owned and new ones is the number of employees and fixed assets. Both at the beginning and at the end of the period, between one-half and two-thirds of the inefficient banks had excess labor and too high costs of fixed assets.

Finally, we look at the intermediation efficiency of banks grouped by percentage of zero-risk assets. We did the same for technical efficiency but do not present the results here, as the conclusions are the same as for intermediation efficiency. With the exception of the first two years, when the picture was somewhat mixed, the results



Figure 12 Intermediation efficiency by age (CCR-model)



Figure 13 Intermediation efficiency by zero-risk assets (CCR-model)

show that the more efficient banks are also those that have, on average, more zero-risk assets. This conclusion becomes more evident as we move towards the end of the analyzed period.⁴

This finding may be interpreted as suggesting that, in spite of the process of equalization in the banking industry, there is still a group of banks with a relatively high proportion of non-performing loans and low level of efficiency. It might become difficult for these banks to withstand the challenges of an increasingly competitive environment. The fact that two banks that belonged to the rightmost peer group in 2000 in Figure 13 failed in 2001 confirms the validity of such a conclusion.

5 Conclusions

We used Data Envelopment Analysis to analyze the efficiency of the banks in the Croatian banking market in the period 1995-2000, years for which relatively reliable bank balance sheets are available and in which the macroeconomic environment was stable.

Overall, the analysis leads to the conclusion that the foreign-owned banks are on average the most efficient, and that the new banks are more efficient than the old ones. A particular problem for the old banks, as well as for the state-owned banks, were non-performing portfolios dating back to the previous system; this problem improved with the rehabilitation of the large old state-owned banks. The rehabilitation process in the large state-owned banks not only improved their efficiency but also contributed to a substantial decrease in interest rate spreads and thus a more competitive environment in the banking market.

In terms of size, the smaller banks are globally efficient, but the large banks appear to be locally efficient. The question remains whether the frontier is adequately spanned for the small number of largest banks. Another conclusion is that there has been strong equalization in terms of average efficiency in the Croatian banking market since 1995. This conclusion is supported by the fact that, under the constant returns-to-scale assumption, the large banks, which started with approximately 45 percent of the smallest banks' average efficiency in 1995, became somewhat more efficient than the smallest banks in 2000. In the case of state-owned and old banks, they

⁴ The last couple of years were also the years in which reporting of the asset quality to the CNB was best.

started with 32 percent and 46 percent of foreign-owned and new bank's efficiency, respectively, and ended up in 2000 with 81 percent and 82 percent of their efficiency, respectively. The process of equalization also took place within the peer groups, as measured by coefficients of variation of average efficiency from the peer group mean.

It appears that the most efficient in various specifications are either the smallest or largest banks. On average, the most slippery territory appears to be the one in which medium-sized banks operate. It might be that the middle-sized banks' relative inefficiency is actually attributable more to the fact that many of these banks are regional banks than to their size, with their efficiency problems arising from the environment in which they operate. On the other hand, the smallest banks are often niche banks. However, being a small bank does not guarantee relative efficiency, as the coefficient of variation of efficiency scores is highest in that group, and as a number of banks in that group failed in the recent past.

Regarding particular inputs, the DEA analysis suggests that the most significant cause of inefficiency among state-owned and old banks vs. foreign-owned and new ones is the number of employees and fixed assets. Under different specifications both at the beginning and at the end of the period, between one-half and two-thirds of the inefficient banks had excess labor and too high costs of fixed assets.

Finally, the results also show that the technically more efficient banks are also those that have, on average, less non-performing loans. This is true for both the operating and intermediation approaches. In the years prior to the banking crisis, this correlation was somewhat blurred, but as we move towards the end of the analyzed period, i.e. as the situation in the banking sector consolidates, that conclusion becomes increasingly evident. However, in spite of the consolidation and equalization in the banking market, there is still a group of banks with a high level of non-performing loans and low technical efficiency.

What we have empirically shown on the Croatian example is that some of the typical transition questions appear to have easy answers. Private banks are more efficient than state-owned banks, and foreign-owned banks are more efficient than domestic ones. Therefore, the decision to privatize and let foreign-owned banks enter the market was a right one. The new owners introduce new production methods and optimize the use of inputs. As a result, efficiency rises and the interest rate spread narrows. The weaker banks cannot withstand the increased competition and either exit from the market or become targets of other banks. Keeping state ownership of the banking sector, keeping foreigners out of the domestic market or keeping afloat weak banks prevents consolidation in the banking market. The consequence is lower efficiency in the banking sector. That, in turn, hurts the real sector of the economy and hampers growth through a higher interest rate spread and an inferior supply of banking products. We have shown how, free from interference, the market brings equalization in efficiency through competitive pressure. It eliminates weak banks and improves the operation of the remaining market participants. In a competitive banking market, low average (relative) efficiency is simply not a viable equilibrium.

References

- Aly, H.Y., R. Grabowski, C. Pasurka and N. Rangan (1990): Technical, Scale, and Allocative Efficiencies in U.S. Banking: An Empirical Investigation, Review of Economics and Statistics 72, pp. 211-218.
- Banker, R.D., A. Charnes and W.W. Cooper (1984): Some models for estimating technical and scale inefficiencies in data envelopment analysis, Management Sci. 30, pp. 1078-92.
- Berg, A.S., C.A. Claussen and R.F. Forsund (1993): *Banking efficiency in Nordic countries: A Multi-output analysis*, Norges Bank, Research paper No. 3, Oslo.
- Berger, A.N. and D.B. Humphrey (1997): *Efficiency of financial institutions: International survey and directions for future research*, European Journal of Operational Research 98, pp. 175-212.
- Brockett, P.L., A. Charnes, W.W. Cooper, Z.M. Huang and D.B. Sun (1997): Data transformations in DEA cone-ratio envelopment approaches for monitoring bank performances, European Journal of Operational Research 98, pp. 251-269.
- Charnes, A., W.W. Cooper and E. Rhodes (1978): *Measuring the efficiency of decision making units*, European Journal of Operational Research 2, pp. 429-444.
- Elayasiani, E. and S.M. Mehdian (1990): A Nonparametric Approach to Measurement of Efficiency and Technological Change: The Case of Large U.S. Commercial Banks, Journal of Financial Services Research 4, pp. 157-168.
- Ferrier, G.D. and C.A.K. Lovell (1990): Measuring Cost Efficiency in Banking: Econometric and Linear Programming Evidence, Journal of Econometrics 46, pp. 229-245.
- Kraft, E. and D. Tirtiroglu (1998): *Bank efficiency in Croatia: A stochastic frontier analysis*, Journal of Comparative Economics 26, pp. 282-300.
- Liebenstein, H. and S. Maital (1992): X-inefficiency after a quarter of a century, American Economic Review 82, No. 2, pp. 428-434.
- Parkan, C. (1987): *Measuring the Efficiency of Service Operations: An Application to Bank Branches*, Engineering Costs and Production Economics 12, pp. 237-242.
- Rangan, N., R. Grabowski, H.Y. Aly and C. Pasurka (1988): The Technical Efficiency of US Banks, Economics Letters 28, pp. 169-175.
- Sherman, H.D. and F. Gold (1985): Bank Branch Operating Efficiency. Evaluation with Data Envelopment Analysis, Journal of Banking and Finance 9, pp. 297-315.

No.	Date	Title	Author(s)
W-1	December 1999	Croatia in the Second Stage of Transition, 1994–1999	Velimir Šonje and Boris Vujčić
W–2	January 2000	Is Unofficial Economy a Source of Corruption?	Michael Faulend and Vedran Šošić
W–3	September 2000	Measuring the Similarities of Economic Developments in Central Europe: A Correlation between the Business Cycles of Germany, Hungary, the Czech Republic and Croatia	Velimir Šonje and Igeta Vrbanc
W–4	September 2000	Exchange Rate and Output in the Aftermath of the Great Depression and During the Transition Period in Central Europe	Velimir Šonje
W–5	September 2000	The Monthly Transaction Money Demand in Croatia	Ante Babić
W–6	August 2001	General Equilibrium Analysis of Croatia's Accession to the World Trade Organization	Jasminka Šohinger, Davor Galinec and Glenn W. Harrison

The following Working Papers have been published since December 1999:

Guidelines to Authors

In its periodical publications *Working Papers, Surveys and Discussion Papers*, the Croatian National Bank publishes scientific and scholarly papers of the Bank's employees, visiting scholars, and other associate contributors.

After the submission, the manuscripts shall be subject to peer review and classification by the Manuscript Review and Classification Committee. The authors shall be informed of the acceptance or rejection of their manuscript for publication within two months following the manuscript submission.

Manuscripts are submitted and published in Croatian and/or English language.

Manuscripts submitted for publication should meet the following requirements:

Manuscripts should be submitted in magnetic or optical storage media (3.5-inch floppy, ZIP, CD) accompanied by three printed paper copies. The acceptable text formats are Word 6 or 97 for Windows/Mac. RTF code page 437 or 852 format is preferred.

Diskettes should be labeled with the type of the word-processor and database used, as well as with the name of the author.

The first page of the manuscript should contain the article title, first and last name of the author and his/her academic degree, name of the institution with which the author is associated, author's co-workers, and the complete mailing address of the corresponding author to whom a copy of the manuscript with requests for corrections shall be sent.

Additional information, such as acknowledgments, may be included in the first page. If this information is extensive, it is preferred to incorporate it within the text, whether at the end of the introductory section or in the special section preceding the list of references.

The second page should contain the abstract and the key words. The abstract is required to be explicit, descriptive, written in third person, consisting of not more than 250 words (maximum 1500 characters). The abstract should be followed by maximum 5 key words.

A single line spacing and A4 paper size should be used. The text must not be formatted, apart from applying bold and italic script to certain parts of the text. Titles must be numerated and separated from the text by a double line spacing, without formatting.

Tables, figures and charts that are a constituent part of the paper must be well laid out, containing: number, title, units of measurement, legend, data source, and footnotes. The footnotes referring to tables, figures and charts should be indicated by lower-case letters (a,b,c...) placed right below. When the tables, figures and charts are subsequently submitted, it is necessary to mark the places in the text where they should be inserted. They should be numbered in the same sequence as in the text and should be referred to in accordance with that numeration. If the tables and charts were previously inserted in the text from other programs (Excel, Lotus...), these databases in the Excel format should also be submitted (charts must contain the corresponding data series).

The preferred formats for illustrations are EPS or TIFF with explanations in 8 point Helvetica (Ariel, Swiss). The scanned illustration must have 300 dpi resolution for gray scale and full color illustration, and 600 dpi for lineart (line drawings, diagrams, charts).

Formulae must be legible. Indices and superscript must be explicable. The symbols' meaning must be given following the equation where they are used for the first time. The equations in the text referred to by the author should be marked by a serial number in brackets closer to the right margin.

Notes at the foot of the page (footnotes) should by indicated by Arabic numerals in superscript. They should be brief and written in a smaller font than the rest of the text.

References cited in the text are listed at the last page of the manuscript in the alphabetical order, according to the authors' last names. References should also include data on the publisher, city and year of publishing.

Publishing Department maintains the right to send back for the author's revision the accepted manuscript and illustrations that do not meet the above stated requirements.

Printed paper copies and diskettes containing manuscript files shall not be returned.

All contributors who wish to publish their papers are welcomed to do so by addressing them to the Publishing Department, following the above stated guidelines.

The Croatian National Bank publications:

Croatian National Bank – Annual Report

Regular annual publication surveying annual monetary and general economic developments as well as statistical data.

Croatian National Bank - Semi-annual Report

Regular semi-annual publication surveying semi-annual monetary and general economic developments and statistical data.

Croatian National Bank – Quarterly Report

Regular quarterly publication surveying quarterly monetary and general economic developments.

Banks Bulletin Publication providing survey of data on banks.

Croatian National Bank – Bulletin

Regular monthly publication surveying monthly monetary and general economic developments and monetary statistics.

Croatian National Bank – Working Papers

Occasional publication containing shorter scientific papers written by the CNB employees, visiting scholars and associate contributors.

Croatian National Bank – Surveys

Occasional publication containing papers of informative and surveying character written by the CNB employees, visiting scholars and associate contributors.

Croatian National Bank – Discussion Papers

Occasional publication containing discussion papers written by CNB employees, visiting scholars and associate contributors.

The Croatian National Bank also issues other publications such as, for example proceedings of conferences organized or co-organized by the CNB, books and papers or books and papers translations of special interest to the CNB as well as other similar publications.